RECEIVED

OCT 09 2017

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-21-2626  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000693

County of Florence and Florence County Council, ..... Respondents,

v.

West Florence Fire District, purported to have been created by  
S.C. Act No. 183 of 2014; the West Florence Fire District Commission,  
purported to have been created by S.C. Act No. 183 of 2014; David Brown,  
Dustin Fails, Linda Lang Gipco, Richard Hewitt, and C. Allen Matthews,  
each in his or her purported official capacity as a member of the West Florence

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court Err in Holding the New Special Purpose District and its Expansion with the Statutory Amendment Violated the “Rule of *Wagener v. Smith*” and Were Therefore Void?
- II. Did the Circuit Court Err in Holding the Act and the Amendment Constituted “Special Legislation” in Violation of S.C. Constitution Article III, § 34, and Were Therefore Void?
- III. Did the Circuit Court Err in Holding the Act and the Amendment Violate the Home Rule Provisions of the South Carolina Constitution, Article VIII, § 7, and the Home Rule Act and Were Therefore Void?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 28, 2014, Governor Nikki Haley signed into law 2014 Act No. 183 creating the West Florence Fire District (WFFD) as a special purpose fire district for portions of Florence and Darlington Counties. Act No. 183, 2014 S.C. Acts. The special purpose district was located primarily in western Florence County although it included a portion of eastern Darlington County along Interstate 95.

On June 23, 2014, the County pursued an action in the original jurisdiction of this Court, challenging the validity of the WFFD as violative of Home Rule and *Wagner v. Smith*. The County sued its Commission on Registration and Elections, its Auditor and its Treasurer. On August 6, 2014, this Court denied the petition, finding the County did not establish that its “rights would be materially prejudiced by the circuit court hearing this action or that extraordinary circumstances exist[ed]....” *Florence County v. Registration and Elections Comm’n for Florence County*, Order (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 6, 2014).

On September 9, 2014, residents within the fire district held an election and selected the WFFD’s commissioners. The WFFD has been operating continuously since that time.

On September 16, 2014, the County filed this action against the WFFD and the State of South Carolina. The new action challenged the validity of 2014 Act No. 183, and sought a declaration that the Act was unconstitutional. All defendants timely answered. The matter was then referred to Circuit Court Judge J.C. Nicholson pursuant to an order of the Court. *Florence County v. West Florence Fire Dist.*, Order (R.p.1).

On June 4, 2015, the South Carolina General Assembly passed Act No. 89, which

amended the legislation created by 2014 Act No. 183. Act No. 89, 2015 S.C. Acts. The 2015 Act further defined the coverage of the WFFD and added a five-year sunset provision on the fire district. On June 13, 2015, Governor Haley vetoed 2015 Act No. 89, but the General Assembly overrode that veto.

On August 15, 2015, the County filed and served an amended Complaint so as to challenge both 2014 Act No. 183 and 2015 Act No. 89. All defendants timely filed answers to the amended complaint. The parties engaged in discovery and on July 25 and 26, 2016, the parties presented testimony and evidence at trial.

On January 17, 2017, the circuit court entered an order ruling in favor of the County. The court also ordered the parties to propose a plan to transition personnel, assets and service from the WFFD to the County. Appellants timely sought reconsideration and on February 13, 2017, the circuit court denied the motion. On March 20, 2017, the circuit court entered a consent order staying the prior order regarding the transition plan pending a final decision on appeal.

On March 22, 2017, Appellants served their notice of appeal.

## ARGUMENTS

### INTRODUCTION

The circuit court ruled that the Act and the Amendment violated the principles set forth in *Wagener v. Smith* as well as provisions of the South Carolina Constitution against “special legislation” and governing Home Rule. The circuit court declared the provisions invalid and of no continuing effect and ordered a transition of the WFFD into the County’s consolidated district. Appellants respectfully seek this Court’s review of those determinations and for an order reversing the circuit court and upholding the General Assembly’s actions.

### SCOPE OF APPELLATE REVIEW

The party challenging the constitutionality of the statute has “the burden of proving the statute unconstitutional.” *In re Treatment of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 135, 568 S.E.2d 338, 344 (2002); *State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001); *State v. Bouye*, 325 S.C. 260, 265, 484 S.E.2d 461, 464 (1997).

The Court has “a very limited scope of review in cases involving a constitutional challenge to a statute.” *State v. Harrison*, 402 S.C. 288, 292, 741 S.E.2d 727, 729 (2013); *In re Justin B.*, 405 S.C. 391, 395, 747 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2013); *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 569, 549 S.E.2d 591, 597 (2001); *Joytime Distrib. & Amusement Co. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 640, 528 S.E.2d 647, 651 (1999). The Court begins with a presumption of constitutionality, and all statutes will be construed so as to render them valid if at all possible. *South Carolina Dept. of Soc. Serv. v. Michelle G.*, 407 S.C. 499, 757 S.E.2d 388 (2014); *State v. Harrison*.

A legislative act will not be declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear beyond a reasonable doubt. *Curtis v. State; In re Lasure*, 379 S.C. 144, 147, 666 S.E.2d 228, 229 (2008); *Westvaco Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 321 S.C. 59, 62, 467 S.E.2d 739, 741 (1995). See also *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 549-550, 564 S.E.2d 87, 89-90 (2002) (“When the issue is the constitutionality of a statute, every presumption will be made in favor of its validity and no statute will be declared unconstitutional unless its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no doubt that it conflicts with the constitution.”). “Moreover, when the constitutionality of a statute is challenged, every presumption will be made in favor of its validity.” *Segars-Andrews v. Judicial Merit Selection Comm’n*, 387 S.C. 109, 118, 691 S.E.2d 453, 458 (2010). A statute will not be declared unconstitutional unless its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no doubt that it violates some provision of the constitution. *Id.*, citing *Gold v. S.C. Bd. of Chiropractic Exam’rs*, 271 S.C. 74, 245 S.E.2d 117 (1978).

**I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE NEW SPECIAL PURPOSE DISTRICT AND ITS EXPANSION WITH THE STATUTORY AMENDMENT WERE VOID UNDER THE “RULE OF *WAGENER V. SMITH*”**

The circuit court held that the new SPD violated the holding in *Wagener v. Smith*, 221 S.C. 438, 71 S.E.2d 1 (1952) and its progeny. (R.pp.18-20). The Court should reverse.

*Wagener* involved the creation of two completely overlapping municipal corporations in the same exact area carrying out the same exact functions (the Township of Folly Island, created in 1936, and the Town of Folly Beach, created in 1951). This

Court agreed with the circuit court that “there cannot be at the same time, within the same territory, two distinct municipal corporations, exercising the same powers, jurisdiction, and privileges.” *Id.*, at 445, 71 S.E.2d at 4. The Court noted the “rule does not rest upon any theory of constitutional limitation, but upon the practical consideration that intolerable confusion instead of good government, almost inevitably would attain in a territory in which two municipal corporations of like kind and powers attempted to function coincidentally.” *Id.*, at 446, 71 S.E.2d at 4. That is, there were two town governments attempting to exist simultaneously over a coextensive geographic region to carry out all of the same functions of government and that state of affairs necessarily caused “intolerable confusion instead of good government.”

Unlike the overlapping townships in *Wagener*, the special purpose district created by these Acts does not involve two municipal corporations overlapping so as to cover a coextensive geographical area and the same powers and functions. The concern in *Wagener* of ensuring a lack of confusion by two governments attempting to function coincidentally does not exist in this case. The WFFD covers an area of western Florence County and a portion of eastern Darlington County, and is limited to providing fire protection services within the district. There is no attempt to overlap “two municipal corporations of like kind and powers” who are attempting “to function coincidentally.” *Wagener*, 221 S.C. at 446, 71 S.E.2d at 4.

Additionally, although the circuit court held the County’s “Creation Ordinance became effective simultaneously with the Dissolution Ordinance” in May 2014 (R.p.10, ¶ 14), this is not completely accurate. As the circuit court noted, the Secretary of State

issued his final order dissolving the fire districts in Florence County on May 12, 2014. (R.p.10, ¶ 15; R.pp.454, 457). This was prior to the public hearing (May 15, 2014) and the County's third reading of its ordinance consolidating fire departments into one county-wide fire protection service area. (May 15, 2014). The County last advertised the ordinance on May 8, 2014. The County's ordinance did not become effective, however, until May 28, 2014, when the time for challenging the ordinance expired. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-19-20 (6) (1992) (person affected by action of governing body may challenge action within 20 days following last publication of notice). Governor Haley signed 2014 Act 183 into law on May 28, 2014, and the statute was effective immediately upon her signature. Thus, the WFFD was in existence at or during a time when the prior fire district serving the area became dissolved, and prior to or at the same time of the effective date of the County's ordinance creating the consolidated district.

*Wagener v. Smith* posed no bar to the creation of the WFFD, and the circuit court erred in so holding. The court's order effectively expands *Wagner v. Smith* beyond its narrow application. This Court should reverse that ruling and remand the matter for the entry of judgment in accordance with the Court's decision.'

**II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE ACT AND THE AMENDMENT CONSTITUTED “SPECIAL LEGISLATION” WERE VOID UNDER S.C. CONSTITUTION ARTICLE III, § 34**

The circuit court found the subject legislation is “special legislation” in violation of article III, § 34 of the state constitution. (R.pp.20-27). The circuit court stated it focused on “four aspects” of the 2014 Act and the 2015 Amendment which it held violate the prohibition against special legislation found in article III, § 34. This Court should reverse.

Article III, § 34, entitled “Special laws prohibited,” provides:

The General Assembly of this State shall not enact local or special laws concerning any of the following subjects or for any of the following purposes, to wit:

\* \* \*

IX. In all other cases [other than those listed in paragraphs I through VIII, which are not relevant to this case], where a general law can be made applicable, no special law shall be enacted....”

S.C. Const. art. III, § 34, ¶ IX. This Court has noted that “for decades,” the Court has recognized the right of the General Assembly to create special purpose districts without regard to the prohibition of S.C. Constitution art. III, § 34(IX) against special legislation. *Hagley Homeowners Ass’n, Inc. v. Hagley Water, Sewer, and Fire Authority*, 326 S.C. 67, 485 S.E.2d 92 (1997).

**A. Purported Divestiture of Generally-Held County Power**

The circuit court first held that the new provisions “treat Florence County and Darlington County differently from every other county, denying to those two counties the

governmental power to control fire protection services for unincorporated areas inside their boundaries... and divesting them of their authority to tax the area of the New SPD for fire protection services....” (R.pp.22-23).

The circuit court’s holding ignores the existence of South Lynches Fire District, which covers portions of lower Florence County and upper Williamsburg County. (R.p. 12, ¶¶ 21-22). *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-23-810 (1983) (creating South Lynches Fire District in Florence and Williamsburg Counties in 1983). This holding also fails to consider the existence of numerous “joint county” fire districts, some of which pre-date Home Rule, *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-23-10 (Supp. 2016) (creating the Murrell’s Inlet-Garden City Fire District in Georgetown and Horry Counties in 1962, amended in 2016), but some of which, like South Lynches, were created after the enactment of Home Rule. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-23-210 (Supp. 2016) (creating the Pelham-Batesville Fire District in Greenville and Spartanburg Counties in 1962); S.C. Code Ann. § 4-23-410 (Supp. 2016) (creating the Gowansville Fire District in Greenville and Spartanburg Counties in 1982); S.C. Code Ann. § 4-23-1200 (Supp. 2016) (creating the Landrum Fire and Rescue District in Greenville and Spartanburg Counties in 2015). If West Florence is declared invalid for the reasons set forth in the circuit court’s order, then each of these other multi-county special purpose fire districts become vulnerable to the same attack.

The Court should reverse the circuit court’s analysis on this “aspect” of the 2014 and 2015 Act creating the West Florence Fire District.

**B. The Acts' Relief from Act 388**

The circuit court next noted that the statutes creating WFFD contain the following provision:

(C) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6-1-320, the commission is authorized to impose a millage levy after 2014 it considers appropriate and necessary for the operation of the district above that permitted by Section 6-1-320 upon a favorable vote of the registered electors of the district in a referendum called for this purpose by the commission held pursuant to the provisions and requirements of Sections 6-11-271 and 6-11-273.

S.C. Code Ann. § 4-23-1015(C) (2015). (R.pp.23-24). Section 6-1-320 provides for a limitation on millage increases by “a local governing body....” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-320(A)(1) (Supp. 2016). “Local governing body” means “the governing body of a county, municipality, or special purpose district.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-300(3) (Supp. 2016). This section is a codification of Act No. 388, 2006 S.C. Acts. The circuit court held “the Act’s relief from Act 388” rendered it void in its entirety under article III, § 34. (R.p.25).

Section 4-23-1015(C), however, expressly requires a public referendum before the WFFD may increase its millage outside the restrictions contained in Section 6-1-320. That is, any increase under this code section is contingent upon the registered electors of the district having a say in the increase. Unless and until such a referendum is proposed and put to the people who reside within the WFFD, this provision does not become operative. The court’s ruling, therefore, is essentially an advisory ruling on a constitutional issue that may never arise. *Cf. Morris v. Anderson County*, 349 S.C. 607, 564 S.E.2d 649 (2002) (court declined to address constitutional issue that might never arise). *See also Colleton County Taxpayers Ass’n v. Sch. Dist. of Colleton County*, 371

S.C. 224, 242, 638 S.E.2d 685, 694 (2006) (“[A]n issue that is contingent, hypothetical, or abstract is not ripe for judicial review.”).

Furthermore, the commissioners who would decide whether to put this issue to the voters are composed of persons assented to by the people. See *Bradley v. Cherokee School District No. One*, 322 S.C. 181, 470 S.E.2d 570 (1996) (Court upheld the local tax act, finding that “[t]he ultimate authority under the Act to impose the tax rests with the Cherokee County voters,” as the entire county electorate had voted on issuance of the bonds and the sales tax).

The circuit court should, therefore, have declined to rule on whether the Acts violated article III, § 34(IX) as “special legislation” because of the exemption from Act 388, which rendered this legislation different from applicable general law – that exemption may never be utilized. Until that time any ruling on this contingent question would be academic.

Furthermore, even if this portion of the Acts could be found to be violative of article III, § 34(IX), this would not end the inquiry. The court would next determine if any portion of the Acts is severable such that the legislative intent may be carried out by the remaining provisions of the Acts.

An Act which offends the Constitution may be shorn of its “offending provision” if the constitutional purpose of the legislation remains complete in itself, wholly independent of that which is rejected, and is of such a character that it may fairly be presumed the legislature would have passed it independent of that which conflicts with the constitution. *American Petroleum v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 572, 677 S.E.2d

16 (2009). “The test for severability is whether the constitutional portion of the statute remains complete in itself, wholly independent of that which is rejected, and if of such a character that it may fairly be presumed the legislature would have passed it independent of that which conflicts with the constitution.” *Joytime Distrib. & Amusement Co., Inc. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 648–49, 528 S.E.2d 647, 654 (1999) (citations omitted). On the other hand, “[w]hen the residue of an Act, *sans* that portion found to be unconstitutional, is capable of being executed in accordance with the Legislative intent, independent of the rejected portion, the Act as a whole should not be stricken as being in violation of a Constitutional Provision.” *Id.* (quoting *Dean v. Timmerman*, 234 S.C. 35, 43, 106 S.E.2d 665, 669 (1959)).

The exemption from Section 6-1-320 is independent of the remainder of the Acts. That is, that portion containing the exemption is mutually independent of the provisions expanding the territory and adding the sunset clause. *Compare Law Firm of Paul L. Erickson, P.A. v. Boykin*, 383 S.C. 497, 681 S.E.2d 575 (2009) (Court severed offending portion of statute from the rest of the statute) with *Sojourner v. Town of St. George*, 383 S.C. 171, 679 S.E.2d 182 (2009) (finding offensive clause in this case may not be severed from remainder of statute because two provisions were mutually dependent upon each other). That provision may be severed from the statute leaving the remainder operative and not in violation of article III, § 34.

Therefore, even if Section 4-23-1015(C) is “special legislation” in violation of article III, § 34(IX), the provision referencing Section 6-1-320 may be severed from the statutes without rendering the remaining provisions incapable of being carried out

according to the Legislature's intent.

Accordingly, the circuit court should have denied the County's claim for relief under article III, § 34(IX).

**C. The Amendment's Expansion of the New SPD**

The circuit court found the 2015 Amendment to the Act which expanded the coverage of the WFFD was done "to avoid the concern, at the heart of the Home Rule issue addressed below, that three lots and a right-of-way were not sufficient to make West Florence Rural a matter of multi-county concern." (R.p.25). The circuit court disagreed with the Legislature's reasoning in the expansion and held it also violated article III, § 34, ¶ 9. (R.pp.25-26).

Again, this criticism and conclusion ultimately goes to the wisdom of the legislative enactments. It is not within the court's province, however, to weigh-in on the wisdom of legislative policy determinations; rather, the court's judicial role is limited to determining whether the Acts withstand the County's constitutional challenges. *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Kigre, Inc.*, 408 S.C. 647, 760 S.E.2d 103 (2014). *See also Laird v. Nationwide Ins. Co.*, 243 S.C. 388, 395, 134 S.E.2d 206, 209 (1964) (responsibility for the wisdom of legislation rests with the Legislature); *Bradford v. Richardson*, 111 S.C. 205, 215, 97 S.E. 58, 61 (1918) ("the courts are not concerned with the wisdom or policy of legislation, except in so far as it may be determinative of legislative power. The power being conceded, the wisdom or policy of legislation is for the Legislature alone. Hence, though we may differ with the Legislature as to the propriety of the law, we must sustain its validity, if it be possible to do so, by any reasonable construction of the

Constitution.”).

This Court should reverse the circuit court’s conclusion on this aspect of the 2014 and 2015 Acts creating the WFFD.

**D. Required Transfer of New Hoffmeyer Road Firehouse**

The circuit court pointed out that the new Acts required the County to transfer to the WFFD the recently acquired real property on Hoffmeyer Road where a new station house has now been built and is in operation. The circuit court held the new Acts “have stripped Florence County Council (and no other county) of those powers with regard to the Hoffmeyer Road property; and they have required the taxpayers of Florence County to make a donation for the provision of services to a limited area not only of Florence County but also of Darlington County.” (R.pp.26-27).

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