THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

OCT 02 2017

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2014-CP-21-2626
Appellate Case No. 2017-000693

County of Florence and the Florence County Council, Respondents,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

I. INCORPORATION OF ORDER

The January 17, 2017, Order of the Circuit Court (Rec., p. 2) contains a thorough explication of the facts and the law relevant to this case, establishing that the Act and the

¹ References to the testimony of witnesses at trial are by page and line number to the Trial Transcript, cited as “Tr.Ts. [*witness last name*].” References to exhibits are to the exhibit number as “Tr.Ex. [*No.*]” and may include page and line numbers within the exhibit.

Amendment are invalid under the South Carolina Constitution and the precedents of this Court. It anticipates and addresses the arguments offered by the Appellants in their Brief. Respondents therefore incorporate the Order in full in this Brief. Respondents offer the following in further support of the conclusions and reasons of the Circuit Court, addressing primarily the deficiencies of the challenges that Appellants assert.

II. SUMMARY

The Act and the Amendment (together, the “**Amended Act**”), codified as S.C. Code Ann. § 4-23-1000 *et seq.* (Supp. 2015), purport to create a new special purpose district for fire protection services, the West Florence Fire District (the “**New SPD**”). The New SPD includes a large area in Florence County (sometimes herein, the “**County**”) and a negligible (and largely temporary) area in Darlington County.

The Darlington County area included in the New SPD by the Act consists of the right-of-way along the approximately one-mile segment of Interstate 95 that cuts through Darlington County (the “**I-95 Segment**”) and three (3) lots located in the portion of Darlington County south of the I-95 Segment (the “**Three Parcels**”).² The remainder of the portion of Darlington County south of the I-95 Segment was not included in the New SPD – not even a fourth lot nestled among the included Three Parcels.³

The Amendment replaces the Act’s reference to non-existent boundaries for the Florence County area and purports, among other revisions, to add to the New SPD an additional area in Darlington County that is not contiguous to the Three Parcels or the I-95 Segment (the

² Rec. pp. 2-3 (Order, pp. 1-2); Rec. pp. 537 and 539 (Tr.Exs. 18 and 19); Rec. p. 233, lines 20-21 (Tr.Ts. (Schofield) p. 64, lines 20-21).

³ Rec. p. 15 (Order, p. 14, “Findings of Fact” 34 and 35); Rec. pp. 537 and 539 (Tr.Exs. 18, 19).

“**Darlington-Hoffmeyer Area**”).⁴ Pursuant to Section 6 of the Amendment, the provisions of the Amendment expire five years from its effective date, thereby causing the Act as originally enacted to come back into effect at that time.

Florence County and Darlington County were, at the time of enactment of the Act and the Amended Act, already providing fire protection service in all areas included in the New SPD, pursuant to general law, in particular S.C. Code Ann. §4-9-30(5) (2015 Supp.) and S.C. Code Ann. §4-19-10 (1986) *et seq.* Those statutes are the result of a carefully developed and long-considered Constitutional event over four decades ago.

At the General Election of 1972, the people of South Carolina approved amendments, as previously proposed and subsequently ratified by the General Assembly, to Article VIII of the South Carolina Constitution. Known as the “Home Rule Amendments,” those new provisions:

. . . clearly intended that home rule be given to the counties and that county government should function in the county seats rather than at the State Capitol. If the counties are to remain units of government, the power to function must exist at the county level. Quite obviously, the framers of Article VIII had this in mind.

Knight v. Salisbury, 262 S.C. 565, 571, 206 S.E.2d 875, 877 (1974) [striking down Act No. 259, 1973 S.C. Acts 302, and Act No. 643, 1973 S.C. Acts 1236, which purported to create Lower Dorchester Recreation District and to authorize it to issue, and to impose a tax for, bonds].

Much of the effort of this Court since then with regard to services, finances, and functions in particular localities of the State has been to protect that determination by the people against old habits of legislative micro-management. The present case arises from another attempt – more than forty years after the people voted to govern themselves in their local jurisdictions – to dictate a local policy centrally, not by general law applicable throughout the State but by a specific law affecting only a small area. In particular, this case relates to local taxation for, and to

⁴ Rec. p. 3 (Order, p. 2, fn. 3).

the control of, fire protection – a service entrusted by the Home Rule Amendments and their effectuating general legislation to the counties of this State.⁵

The property taxes levied by a county to support its services (such as fire protection) must be uniform; but different areas may have different taxation levels depending on the level of benefits that area receives. S.C. Const. art. X, § 6; S.C. Code of Laws § 4-9-30(5). Such different levels of taxation must be pursuant to “general law applicable to the same type of political subdivision throughout the State.” S.C. Const. art. X, § 6. And the general law that permits different taxation levels (S.C. Code of Laws § 4-9-30(5)) vests the authority to determine whether to have uniform or varied tax levels in the governing body of each county.

Prior to the Act, Florence County was (along with Darlington County, each in their respective areas) controlling, financing, and providing fire protection service in the locality in question without problems or complaints. In such situations of ongoing service by a pre-existing entity, the decisions of this Court have forbidden superimposing another governmental entity on top of the existing one to provide those already in-place services. *Wagener v. Smith*, 221 S.C. 438, 71 S.E. 1 (1952)); and *North Carolina Electric Corp. v. White*, 301 S.C.274, 391 S.E.2d 571 (1990).

Florence County had been exercising its power with a series of separate fire protection special tax districts, each with its own County-determined tax rate. In 2014, however, Florence County, after careful consideration and with independent professional advice, consolidated those special tax districts, thus resulting in a uniform tax levy throughout the consolidated district (raising some tax levies and lowering others). Upon complaint by residents of one area that would see an increase, the General Assembly intervened with passage of the Act. The Act, by

⁵ See S.C. Code Ann. §4-9-30(5) and the Fire Protection Services Act, S.C. Code Ann. §4-19-10 (1986) *et seq.* Rec. pp. 36-37 (Order, pp. 35-36).

overlaying a new special purpose district over a part of Florence County, sought to insulate the area of that new special purpose district from the tax increase and to remove the governance of fire protection service there from the control of the Florence County Council (“**Council**”).

Had Florence County decided instead to continue the old, multiple special tax districts, there would be no Act, no Amendment, and no case. The uncontested findings of fact are that there had been no problems or complaints with regard to the way in which Florence and Darlington Counties had been serving their respective areas; there were no efficiencies to be gained by a district that crossed the county line; and the Act and the Amendment required no change in actual practice in the way in which service was provided or the entity by which service was provided to those areas.

Rather, the Act and the Amendment made one change and one change only – they overrode, from Columbia, a local policy decision made by local elected officials to whom general law had entrusted precisely those decisions and, by special law applicable no where else, removed that general law trust from Florence and Darlington Counties for the affected areas. Florence County has brought this lawsuit to defend Home Rule, to oppose that encroachment, and to resist the dropping of a new governmental entity into its midst to provide a service that Florence County not only is itself lawfully authorized to provide but was in fact already itself providing.

The question now before this Court is whether Florence County may, like every other county, continue to control, finance, and provide fire protection service within its unincorporated boundaries, without override or interference by special legislation not generally and uniformly applicable to counties providing those services. The Constitution of South Carolina and the rulings of this Court compel an affirmative answer.

As the Circuit Court noted:

A response by elected officials to the concerns of their constituents is natural and commendable; but it must be within the bounds of the law. Constituents must take their concerns to those elected officials charged by law with responsibility for the subject matter of their concerns. The fact that some constituents will be displeased by the decision made at the constitutionally and statutorily appropriate level of government – and there will inevitably be some thus displeased – does not confer on any other level of government a power to override the decision of the duly-constituted and responsible authority. Under the Home Rule provision of our Constitution and the implementing statutes, the appropriate level for addressing local issues of fire protection service is the local (county or city) government, not the General Assembly.

Rec. p. 41 (Order, p. 40).

Appellants charge that the Circuit Court was “second-guessing a policy decision.” (BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, pp. 13, 15, 17 (at Sections IIC, IID, and III)). That accusation is entirely baseless. Instead, the Circuit Court exercised its appropriate judicial function, not to make a policy decision in place of elected officials but to ensure that policy decisions are made by the constitutionally-appropriate level of elected officials – in short, upholding the rule of law embodied in the Constitution approved by the voters of this State and in venerable case law prescribed by this Court.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This suit seeks a declaration that the Act and the Amendment are unconstitutional as violative of: (i) the Constitutional prohibitions against local or special legislation in S.C. Const. art. VIII, § 7 (the “**Home Rule Amendment**”), and S.C. Const. art. III, §34, ¶ IX; and (ii) the long-standing and widely-accepted rule of *Wagener v. Smith*, 221 S.C. 438, 71 S.E. 1 (1952), and *North Carolina Electric Corp. v. White*, 301 S.C.274, 391 S.E.2d 571 (1990), that where one government is already in place and providing a service, another cannot be superimposed over it to provide the same service. It is thus primarily a question of law.

Respondents and the Circuit Court have acknowledged that such a challenge must clear a high hurdle. Rec. p. 18 (Order, p. 17). A legislative act will not be declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the Constitution is clear and beyond a reasonable doubt. *University of South Carolina v. Mehlman*, 245 S.C. 180, 139 S.E.2d 771 (1964). Statutes “will be construed to render them valid.” *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 569, 549 S.E.2d 591, 597 (2001).

Four factors affect the application of that standard in this case.

1. Appellants have not challenged the Circuit Court’s “Findings of Fact” (except one related to the sequence of certain events, discussed below in Section V(A) of ARGUMENT). Consequently, those facts are established for purposes of this appeal. See *Dreher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015), reh’g denied (June 18, 2015) (“[S]hould the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a lower court’s decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case.”). Citations herein to support factual assertions will therefore be largely to the Order rather than to testimony or exhibits from the trial.
2. Appellants have not challenged the plain meaning of the statutes, so there is no need for construction of statutory terms. See *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (“Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed . . .”) [internal citations omitted]. Consequently, the aspect of the standard of review for constitutionality that addresses choosing a constitutional construction is inapplicable here.

3. The Home Rule Amendment and the quasi-constitutional, judicial doctrine regarding overlapping government service providers have already been definitively addressed by this Court with regard to legislatively-created special purpose districts. *Knight v. Salisbury, supra*; *Wagener v. Smith, supra*; and *North Carolina Electric Corp. v. White, supra*. So the tests for applying those principles are established and clear. Appellants have not challenged the continued vitality of those precedents of this Court, instead questioning only whether they apply to this case.
4. With regard to the prohibition of special legislation under S.C. Const. art. III, §34, ¶ IX, the burden of proof has shifted to the Appellants, as described in Section V(B) of ARGUMENT below.

Thus, the question resolves itself into a pure question of law: do the Act and the Amendment fit within the prohibitions of those cases and the Constitution and doctrine that they enforce?

IV. FACTS

Florence County has for many years – at least since 1982 – exercised its authority to provide and control fire protection services in the areas of the county not already being served and to determine the necessary millage rates to support those services. That authority is conferred by S.C. Const., art. VIII, §7; S.C. Code Ann. §4-9-25, §4-9-30(5)(a) and §4-19-10 *et seq.* (Supp. 2015). Rec. p. 6 (Order, p. 5, “Findings of Fact” 1).

Florence County funded its fire services through ad valorem property taxes on districts that it had created (the “**Prior Tax Districts**”), each with its own millage rate based on its own cost structures, tax bases, and capital expense programs; and it provided the service by

contracting with self-governing, not-for-profit entities (“**Fire Departments**”), each of which provided service in a Prior Tax District.⁶ Two of the Prior Tax Districts were the West Florence Rural Volunteer Fire District (“**West Florence Rural**”) and the Windy Hill/Olanta Rural Fire District (“**Windy Hill/Olanta**”), which Council created in 2007. Rec. pp. 7-8 (Order, pp. 6-7, “Findings of Fact” 4-6).

Beginning in 2012, Council began a comprehensive review of its system for fire protection to address concerns of funding adequacy for the Prior Tax Districts, funding equity among the Prior Tax Districts, and transparency and accountability. A portion of the funding-adequacy concern arose from the adverse effects of the limitations imposed by Act No. 388, 2006 S.C. Acts 3133 (“**Act 388**,” codified as S.C. Code Ann. §6-1-320 (Supp. 2015)), which left Council unable to impose a sufficient millage to meet rising costs of fire protection. Council officials attempted to obtain from the General Assembly a general law exemption from Act 388 (similar to one granted in 2014), but all efforts by Council (and by others) to persuade the General Assembly to re-visit the reforms of Act 388 were unsuccessful. West Florence Rural was one of those adversely constrained by Act 388. Rec. pp. 8-9 (Order, pp. 7-8, “Findings of Fact” 7-9).

In May 2013, the consulting firm that Council engaged to study its fire protection arrangements reported that significant benefits would accrue from financial consolidation and operational coordination of the Prior Tax Districts. Council was also aware that because the consolidation of its Prior Tax Districts into a unified district would create a new entity, Act 388’s limitation on year-over-year revenue increases would not apply in that newly-consolidated

⁶ One of the Prior Tax Districts was created as a special tax district under S.C. Code Ann. §4-9-30(5) (Supp. 2015); the other five were created as fire protection service areas under S.C. Code Ann. §4-19-10 *et seq.* (Supp. 2015). Rec. p. 7 (Order, p 6, “Findings of Fact” 4, fn. 12).

district's first year, thus creating a new base-line and the opportunity to address, in part and on a one-shot basis, the funding adequacy issue. Rec. p. 9 (Order, p. 8, "Findings of Fact" 10-11).

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